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1. Name of Property

historic name
other names/site number

Riegel Hospital
N/A

2. Location

street & number 194 Allgood Street

city, town Trion
county Chattooga code GA 055
state Georgia code GA zip code 30753

( ) not for publication

( ) vicinity of

3. Classification

Ownership of Property:

() private
(X) public-local

Category of Property:

(X) building(s)
() district

() public-state () site
( ) public-federal ( ) structure
( ) object

Number of Resources within Property: Contributing Noncontributing
buildings 3 0
sites 0 0
structures 0 0
objects 0 0
total 3 0

Contributing resources previously listed in the National Register: N/A

Name of previous listing: N/A
Name of related multiple property listing: N/A



4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify
that this nomination meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my
opinion, the property meets the National Register criteria. () See continuation sheet.

oo Coves [-23-02

Signature of certifying official Date

W. Ray Luce
Division Director and Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer

In my opinion, the property ( ) meets ( ) does not meet the National Register criteria. () See continuation
sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency or bureau

5. National Park Service Certification

I, hereby, certify that this property is:

entered in the National Register < - Z/ 20 / 02_/

() determined eligible for the National Register

() determined not eligible for the National Register

() removed from the National Register

() other, explain:

() see continuation sheet pd
eeper of the National Register Date
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6. Function or Use

Historic Functions:
HEALTH CARE/HOSPITAL
Current Functions:

HEALTH CARE/MEDICAL BUSINESS/OFFICE
VACANT/NOT IN USE

7. Description

Architectural Classification:

LATE 19TH AND EARLY 20TH CENTURY REVIVALS/COLONIAL REVIVAL
Materials:

foundation Brick

walls Brick
roof Asphalt
other N/A

Description of present and historic physical appearance:

Riegel Hospital, constructed in 1934, is centrally located in the Trion mill community in northwest
Georgia. It is a long, narrow, two-story, brick building with Colonial Revival details including
symmetrical facade, with nine-bay central block and three-bay pavilions at each end; flat roof with
parapet; balconied entry portico featuring entablature supported by pilasters and fluted, Doric
columns; and brick quoins emphasizing pavilion corners (photograph 1). Other features include a
brick foundation; wooden windows, main entrance, and rear porch painted white; single and paired
six-over-six double-hung sash windows; brick lintels with brick keystones (single lintel over paired
windows); brick water tables at first floor level and above second story windows; brick bonding
pattern consisting of five stretcher rows per row of alternating headers and stretchers; and a one-
story rear entry porch supported by square columns (photograph 2). The foundation is assumed to
be strip footing under the walls and spread footings under the piers.

The main entrance is on cross-axis with the double-loaded corridor that runs from one end of the
building to the other. The main entrance of the hospital opens into a lobby which leads to a double-
loaded corridor. The corridor extends to the south end into a smaller lobby or vestibule. It opens into
small rooms on each side which served as doctors’ offices, patient rooms, and treatment rooms. The
corridor extends to the north end and opens into the remodeled portion of the building which includes
the former African-American section. The stair lobby is in the center of the building at the rear. The
second floor contains a double-loaded corridor. Rooms on each side include patient rooms, wards,
and auxiliary rooms. The operating room is centrally located across from the stair lobby and nurses’
station. Walls are plaster on brick or lath; ceilings are plaster on lath; and floors and baseboards are
ceramic or composition tile. The interior is generally void of stylistic details or ornamentation with the
exception of arched openings that are a repeated interior design feature. Mechanical systems and
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TRION, CHATTOOGA COUNTY, GEORGIA



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approved No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section 7--Description

services include an elevator, radiators, numerous plumbing fixtures, some lighting fixtures, and
skylights above the second-story corridor.

Several alterations have been made to the building. The main entrance doors have been replaced
with windows, and both side entrances have been altered from their original appearances
(photograph 4). Several windows have been bricked in and several others have been replaced with
windows that do not fit the original openings or with metal storm windows. A one-story frame addition
has been built on the north side of the building (photograph 3-background).

The first floor has dropped ceilings, artificial wood paneling, and carpeted floors (photographs 7, 8,
and 9). Most or all of these changes are believed to have occurred since 1975. The former African-
American section at the south end has been renovated into a single doctor’s office. The second floor
retains its plaster walls, tile floors and walls (photographs 10-14), and arched openings (photograph
11). A nurses’ station (photograph 11), operating room (photograph 12), and patient rooms
(photographs 13 and 14) remain intact.

Two historic outbuildings are located on the property (photograph 6). The balloon-framed, front-
gable ambulance garage and cross-gable storage building are located directly behind the main
building. The buildings are wood sided and painted white with asphalt roofs and exposed rafter tails.
Both buildings are believed to have been built c.1934.

South of the Chattooga River and surrounded by mostly historic residential buildings on the east,
south, and west, Riegel Hospital is set back approximately 175 feet from Park Avenue on a wide
expanse of lawn. Earlier foundation plantings no longer exist. A concrete walk extends from Park
Avenue on the entry axis and a concrete walk on the cross-axis extends from Park Street to Town
Hall on the north. A paved parking area is located at the rear of the main building.

RIEGEL HOSPITAL
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8. Statement of Significance

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other
properties:

( ) nationally ( ) statewide (X) locally
Applicable National Register Criteria:

(X) A ()B (X)C ()D

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions): (X) N/A

(JA ()B ()C ()D ()E ()F ()G

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions):

Architecture
Medicine

Period of Significance:

1934-1945

Significant Dates:

1934-Construction of hospital building, ambulance garage, and storage building
Significant Person(s):

N/A

Cultural Affiliation:

N/A

Architect(s)/Builder(s):

W.W. Cox
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Narrative statement of significance (areas of significance)

The town of Trion developed as a mill village surrounding the Trion Manufacturing Company cotton
mill. The company, established in 1845, employed the majority of the residents in the area and
provided services for its employees as well as the community at large, including providing a hospital
for medical care. Riegel Hospital was constructed in 1934 by the Trion Company to enhance the
welfare of the company’s employees and the greater community, including the African-American
community in a segregated section of the building until the mid-1960s. This section consisted of two
rooms with three beds and was accessed by a separate rear entrance in the northwest corner on the
first floor, but was remodeled recently for a dentist’s office. Named in respect for Benjamin D. Riegel,
president of the Trion Company from 1912-1941 and considered Trion’s greatest benefactor, Riegel
Hospital was later operated by the Trion Community foundation, a non-profit arm of the company,
chartered for the promotion of health, education, recreation, civic improvement, and charities for the
Trion community. The hospital operated continuously until 1975 at which time Chattooga County
Hospital opened to serve the county. Riegel Hospital is significant in the area of architecture as an
excellent example of a mid-20™ century institutional building with Colonial Revival details. The
character-defining features include the symmetrical facade; entry portico supported by Doric
columns; double-hung sash windows; flat roof with parapet wall; brick lintels, keystones, and quoins;
and the brick-bonding pattern. This type of design is characteristic of smaller institutional buildings
built during the 1930s and 1940s when traditional revival architectural design and newer ideas of
modern architecture were frequently juxtaposed. Character-defining interior features include the
double-loaded corridors and limited ornamentation, typical of institutional buildings. The hospital is
significant in the area of health/medicine for the typical activities that would have occurred at a
community hospital in the mid-20" century. Riegel Hospital was the only hospital in the community
and represents the paternalism of the mill owners attempting to look after the health and welfare of
their workers. It was a true community asset at a time when many small Georgia communities had
only limited healthcare facilities such as the traditional doctor’s office (often part of the doctor’s
house) and drug store. This resource is a rare historic property type. It is one of only 45 hospitals in
the statewide survey (40% coverage), and one of only seven in a town setting.

National Register Criteria

Riegel Hospital is eligible under Criterion A in the area of health/medicine for its significant function
as a hospital and Criterion C in the area of architecture as a good and intact example of a Colonial
Revival style building constructed for use as a hospital.

Criteria Considerations (if applicable)

N/A

RIEGEL HOSPITAL
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Period of significance (justification)

The period of significance represents the period in which the hospital and supporting buildings were
constructed and functioned as the sole hospital in the Trion community. The period represents Trion
Company ownership of the hospital and the role the company played in the community and the lives
of its employees.

Contributing/Noncontributing Resources (explanation, if necessary)

The hospital building, ambulance garage, and storage building are the three contributing resources
on the nominated property. There are no noncontributing resources on the property.

Developmental history/historic context (if appropriate)

*NOTE: The following history was compiled by Dan Latham, Preservation Planner, Coosa
Valley Regional Development Center, July, 2000. On file at the Historic Preservation Division,
Georgia Department of Natural Resources, Atlanta, Georgia.

The town of Trion developed as a mill village around the cotton factory at Trion that was organized in
1845 by A.P. Allgood, Spencer Marsh, and W.K. Briers. It began operations in 1847. According to
the census of 1850, 70 persons were employed in manufacturing in Chattooga County. George
White, in Historical Collections of Georgia (1854), indicates that “Tryon Factory” had 864 spindles
and 10 looms and employed 45 operatives. Other manufacturing operations in Chattooga County at
that time consisted mostly of sawmills and grist and flour mills.

According to census records Trion Manufacturing Company accounted for a majority of Chattooga
County’s manufacturing employment during the last half of the 19" century. The factory escaped
destruction during the Civil War but was destroyed by fire in 1875. A new brick factory was
constructed in 1876. In 1888, the Chattanooga, Rome, and Columbus Railroad was built through the
center of the county passing through Raccoon Mills, Summerville, and Trion. The construction of the
railroad allowed for the expansion of the mill with the addition of two buildings between 1889 and

1900.

The town of Trion was incorporated on February 20, 1869, but included only the land owned by Trion
Manufacturing Company. Over the next several decades, Trion’s population grew steadily and the
corporate limits were expanded and eventually included lands outside the control of the mill. During
the 1890s, Trion experienced one of its two greatest periods of growth. The town’s population
increased 139 percent from 807 in 1890 to 1,926 in 1900. A 1901 article in The Summerville News
described Trion as having two churches—Methodist and Baptist—one school, a fire protection
system, one department store, one ice plant, one brick plant, one saw mill, one weekly newspaper,
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one ginnery, one large farm, 500 houses, six warehouses, two hotels, five physicians, one livery
stable, one meat market, three blacksmith shops, and one coal yard.

On August 22, 1907, Trion’s corporate limits were extended to include nineteen land lots together
with all roads, streets, approaches, and property used for railroad purposes lying within a radius of
one mile. During the 1900s, however, Trion’s population declined 10.6 percent to 1,721 in 1910. In
June, 1912, the assets of the Trion Manufacturing Company were sold by order of bankruptcy court.
The property was purchased by a syndicate and sold to Benjamin D. Riegel of New York. A new
company, The Trion Company, was chartered under the laws of Georgia on August 31, 1912.
Benjamin D. Riegel became its president.

By the mid-1920s, Trion Cotton Mills had expanded to 61,000 spindles. The 1920s were Trion’s
second period of rapid population growth. Its population jumped 107 percent during that decade,
reaching 3,289 in 1930. In 1932, The Trion Company added a glove factory, and in 1938, a dyeing
and finishing plant was built. The Dixie National highway, running north-south through the county
through Trion, Summerville, and Gore, was paved in 1932-33.

It was during this period of growth and development in Trion that the Trion Company established the
local hospital named after the company’s president, Benjamin D. Riegel. The construction of the
hospital was indicative of the importance of the mill company’s role in the lives of its employees and
in the community.

Chattooga County’s first hospital was established in nearby Summerville in August, 1927, by Dr.
W.B. Hair. Dr. N.A. Funderburk was a partner to Dr. Hair until he became head of Riegel Hospital in
Trion in 1934. Dr. Funderburk was head of the hospital until September, 1942, after which Dr.
William U. Hyden became head of the staff. The 18-bed hospital in Summerville was known as the
Summerville-Trion Hospital until about 1945. After Dr. Hair sold his interest in the hospital, it was
renamed the Summerville Hospital until it closed in November, 1948, due to low occupancy. In May,
1949, Chattooga County voters approved hospital bonds in the amount of $110,000 toward the
construction of a county hospital. The Chattooga County Hospital, located in Summerville, opened in
January, 1952. The Chattooga County Hospital Authority was advised regarding the plans to close
Trion Community Hospital in 1975, and the 42-bed capacity of the county facility was believed
sufficient to meet the hospital needs of the county. Patients of the Trion hospital were transferred to
the county facility by March 1, 1975, and the Trion doctors joined the medical staff of the Chattooga
County Hospital. The Chattooga County Hospital closed on May 30, 1997. There are currently no
hospital facilities in Chattooga County.

Riegel Hospital provided services to the greater Trion community and surrounding area, not just mill
employees. Patients came from as far away as Dalton, Georgia and northwestern Alabama.
Company employees could pay for services through payroll deductions.

RIEGEL HOSPITAL
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Riegel Hospital served the African-American community in a segregated section of the hospital prior

to the facility being integrated in the mid-1960s. This segregated section consisted of little more than
two rooms and three beds in the northwest corner of the first floor accessed by an outside rear entry.
This section of the historic hospital was later remodeled into a dentist’s office.

Benjamin D. Riegel, generally considered Trion’s greatest benefactor, died on November 6, 1941.
His death marked the end of an era defined by a long list of community improvements. These
included paved streets, modern recreational facilities, new schools, new and improved housing
(including a large dormitory and a row of brick apartments along Park Avenue), a beautiful
landscaped plaza constructed between the mills, and of course the community hospital. In addition,
Riegel acquired a herd of prized Guernsey cattle and built a large, modern dairy that he named
Riegeldale Farm. He also built the Riegeldale Tavern and gardens across from the dairy at the south
end of town on the Dixie Highway. It was operated as a restaurant and an outlet for his dairy
products. Trion had all the conveniences needed for its people, including its own modern department
store, service station, saw mill, ice plant, bank, library, barber shop, and beauty parlor.

Two of the aforementioned improvements, the Riegel Hospital and Leila Riegel Hall dormitory (no
longer extant), were opened to the public for inspection at ten o’clock on the morning of April 12,
1934. The Summerville News declared that Saturday to be “one of the greatest days the people of
Trion have ever seen” and that it “will be long-remembered by the citizens of this town.”

The two-story, thirty-bed hospital was situated in “South Trion,” called an “ideal location that will
assure quietness to patients.” Immediately north of the hospital was the three-story Leila Riegel Hall,
a dormitory built to house some 300 girls. The new buildings were described as being of “old
Colonial architecture.” The hospital was “modern equipped in every respect” and “as fireproof as any
building can be made.” The land on which the hospital and dormitory were built had been used
originally as a community pasture. The hospital’'s medical staff was said to be “well-trained in the
diagnosis of physical ailments and also in surgical work,” and the hospital was said to offer its
patients “the best in medical knowledge that can be had in this part of the country.: Dr. N.A.
Funderburk was head of the staff of physicians that included Doctors Mitchell, Baker, and Chunn.

A few years after Benjamin D. Riegel's death, on August 14, 1945, The Trion Community Foundation,
Inc., was chartered. Incorporators were John L. Riegel, a cousin of Benjamin, and G.H.H. Emory,
both of New York, and E.W. Reid and N.B. Murphy, president of The Trion Company, both of Trion.
The sole purpose of this new nonprofit corporation was “to provide, acquire, maintain, and operate
facilities for the promotion of health, education, recreation, civic improvement and charities for the
Trion community.” It was expressly given the power and authority to acquire and operate any
hospital, clinic, or other facility for the promotion and protection of the health of the community; to
acquire and operate recreational facilities, such as community centers, athletic fields, and parks; and
to provide funds for other charitable and humanitarian purposes, including providing student loan
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funds for education. On December 26, 1945, The Trion Company donated the Riegel Community
Hospital property to the Trion Community Foundation.

In June, 1946, The Trion Company and the Ware Shoals (South Carolina) Manufacturing Company
were combined into a new corporation, Riegel Textile Corporation, organized under the laws of
Delaware. Trion’s population declined by 20 percent during the 1940s, and it lost its status as the
county’s largest town. Summerville's corporate limits were greatly expanded in 1945, and its 1950
population of 3,973 surpassed Trion's 3,028.

The Trion Community Foundation, Inc., operated the hospital, then called Trion Community Hospital,
for almost 30 years. By the 1970s, the hospital building did not meet standards for Medicare and
Medicaid or state fire regulations. Fearing that the state would not continue to grant the hospital a
certificate to operate due to the building’s obsolescence and deficiencies, the Trion Community
Foundation decided to close the facility. The Trion Community Hospital officially closed on March 1,
1975. At that time, there were three doctors on staff. The doctors continued to use their offices on
the first floor of the building, which then became known as the Trion Doctors’ Building.

The Trion Community Foundation, Inc., sold the old hospital property in April, 1986. Portions of the
building continued to be used for medical offices. In November, 1999, the Trion Town Council voted
to purchase the property. The acquisition was completed in March, 2000.

RIEGEL HOSPITAL
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 1.7 acres

UTM References

A) Zone 16 Easting 654826 Northing 3823338
Verbal Boundary Description

The boundary of the nominated property follows the current legal boundary and is indicated on the
attached map by a heavy black line.

Boundary Justification

The boundary of the nominated property includes the intact parcel of land historically associated with
the hospital. It includes the historic hospital and its two small auxiliary buildings.
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Photographs

Name of Property: Riegel Hospital

City or Vicinity: Trion

County: Chattooga

State: Georgia

Photographer: James R. Lockhart

Negative Filed: Georgia Department of Natural Resources

Date Photographed: January, 2001

Description of Photograph(s):

1 of 15:
2 of 15:
3 of 15:
4 of 15:
5 of 15:
6 of 15:
7 of 15:
8 of 15:
9 of 15:
10 of 15:
11 0f 15:
12 of 15:
13 of 15:

14 of 15:

RIEGEL HOSPITAL

Front facade; photographer facing west.

Original front entrance; photographer facing west.

Front facade and south facade; photographer facing northwest.
South facade; photographer facing north.

Rear facade; photographer facing northeast.

Ambulance garage and storage building; photographer facing northwest.

Interior, first floor, treatment room; photographer facing east.
Interior, first floor; photographer facing south.

Interior, first floor, laboratory; photographer facing west.

Interior, second floor; photographer facing south.

Interior, second floor, nurses’ station; photographer facing east.
Interior, second floor, operating room; photographer facing south.
Interior, second floor, patient room; photographer facing east.

Interior, second floor, patient room; photographer facing east.
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Photographs

15 of 15: Front facade, site; photographer facing southwest.
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Riegel Hospital
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Riegel Hospital
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Riegel Hospital

Trion, Chattooga County, Georgia
First Floor Plan/Interior Photograph Key
Photograph Direction/Number: 4\
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Riegel Hospital

Trion, Chattooga County, Georgia

Second Floor Plan/Interior Photograph Key
Photograph Dircction/Number: £\
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